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BALLARAT BEFORE THE GOLD
DISCOVERY.

First Exploring Parties.—Mount
Buninyong.—Mount
Aitkin.—Ercildoun.—Ballarat.—Lake Burrumbeet
Dry.—Settling Throughout the District.—First Wheat
Grown.—First Flour Mill.—Founding of
Buninyong.—A Wide Diocese.—Appearance of
Ballarat.—The Natives.—Aboriginal Names.—The
Squatters.—Premonitions of the Gold Discovery.
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A L L A R A T is one of the wonders of this century. Young
in years its mutations have been many and rapid, and its
marvellous progress has given to it a seeming antiquity beyond
its urban years. Our task is to trace an outline of the rise and
progress of this golden city. This task takes us back to days
that seem, in the swift march of colonial events, to belong
already to a remote antiquity. While the sailor-King William IV.
was but newly buried, and Queen Victoria was still an uncrowned
maiden; while only a few rude huts, sprinkled about the still
uncleared slopes and gullies, failed to scare away the native
animals that haunted the bush where the City of Melbourne now
stands; while the pleasant borders of the Bay of Corio, where
Geelong is to-day, were not graced by a single house, but only
bore on their silent slopes a few scattered tents, a small band
of settlers started from the Corio shore to explore the unknown
country to the north-west. This was in the month of August, 1837.
The party comprised Mr. Thomas Livingstone Learmonth; Mr. D'Arcy,
a surveyor; Dr. Thompson, late of Geelong; Mr. David Fisher, then
manager of the Derwent Company, Tasmania; Captain Hutton, of the
East India Company's Service; and Mr. Henry Anderson. With them
they took suitable equipment and provisions. From Bellpost Hill
they saw in the distance, north-westward, a mount, to which they
directed their course, steering their way by compass, and thus
they arrived at and ascended Mount Buninyong. From the Mount the
explorers saw fine country to the north-westward, Lake
Burrumbeet, and the distant ranges of the Pyrenees and the
Grampians. An ocean of forest, with island hills, was all around
them, but not a speck visible that spoke to them of civilisation.
But the promising landscape drew the explorers on westward and
north-westward. They descended the Mount, the party divided,
their compass-bearings were not well kept, the provision-cart
failed to be at the appointed rendezvous, and thus, broken into
sections, the explorers found their way back to the coast, some
of them unable to find their provisions, and therefore fasting by
the way.

In January of the next year explorers set out again. The party
this time consisted of Messrs. J. Aitken, Henry Anderson, Thomas
L. Learmonth, Somerville L. Learmonth, and William Yuille. The
starting point was Mr. Aitken's house, at Mount Aitken, and
thence the explorers went towards Mount Alexander, which at that
time had just been occupied by a party of overlanders from
Sydney, consisting of Messrs. C.H. Ebden, Yaldwin, and Mollison.
From Mount Alexander they followed the course of the Loddon,
passed over what has since been proved to be a rich auriferous
country, and bore down on a prominent peak, which the explorers
subsequently called Ercildoun, from the old keep on the Scottish
border, with which the name of the Learmonth's ancestor, Thomas
the Rhymer, was associated. Their course brought them to the lake
district of Burrumbeet and its rich natural pastures. The days
were hot but the nights cold, and the party, camping at night on
an eminence near Ercildoun, suffered so much from cold that they
gave the camping place the name Mount Misery. There was water
then in Burrumbeet, but it was intensely salt and very shallow.
Next year, 1839, Lake Burrumbeet was quite dry, and it remained
dry for several succeeding summers. It was covered with rank
vegetation, and the ground afforded excellent pasture after the
ranker growth had been burnt off. The country thus discovered was
occupied during the year 1838, and other settlers, pushing on in
the same direction, in a couple of years completed the occupation
of all the fine pastoral country as far westward as the Hopkins
River. The brothers Learmonth, Mr. Henry Anderson, Messrs.
Archibald and W.C. Yuille, and Mr. Waldie settled on the
subsequently revealed gold-fields of Ballarat, Buninyong,
Sebastopol, and their immediate vicinities. Some members of the
Clyde Company, of Tasmania, visited the Western district in 1838,
that company giving the name to the Clyde Inn, of the old Geelong
coach road. They settled upon the Moorabool and the Leigh, Mr.
George Russell being the manager. Major Mercer, who gave the name
to Mount Mercer, and Mr. D. Fisher, were of that company. The
Narmbool run, near Meredith, was taken by Mr. Neville in 1839.
Ross' Creek was named from Capt. Ross, who in those early days
used to perform the feat of walking in Highland costume all the
way to Melbourne. But in those times travelling was a more
serious matter than in these days of railroads, coaches, cabs,
and other vehicles, with good roads and a generally settled
country. Then there were no roads, few people, and a thick
forest, encumbered about Ballarat, too, with the native hop. Mr.
Archibald Fisken, of Lal Lal, was the first person to drive a
vehicle through the then roadless forest of Warrenheip and
Bullarook. In 1846 he drove a dog-cart tandem with Mr. W. Taylor
through the bush to Longerenong, on the Wimmera.

Messrs. T.L. and S.L. Learmonth, whose father was then in
Hobarton, settled their homestead on what became known as the
Buninyong Gold Mining Company's ground at Buninyong. Mr. Henry
Anderson, who was the earliest pioneer in what is now known as
Winter's Flat, planted his homestead near the delta formed by the
confluence of the Woolshed Creek and the Yarrowee, Messrs. Yuille
subsequently taking that homestead and all the country now known
as Ballarat West and East and Sebastopol. These settlers gave the
name to Yuille's Swamp, more recently called Lake Wendouree. The
Bonshaw run was taken up by Mr. Anderson, 'who named it Waverley
Park, and Mr. John Winter coming into possession shortly
afterwards gave to it the present name, after his wife's home in
Scotland. Messrs. Pettett and Francis, in 1838 (as managers for
Mr. W.H.T. Clarke), took up the country at Dowling Forest, so
called after Mrs. Clarke's maiden name. Shortly after they had
settled there Mr. Francis was killed by one of his own men with a
shear-blade, at one of the stations on the run. Before Mr.
Pettett took up the Dowling Forest run he was living at the
Little River, and a native chief named Balliang offered to show
him the country about Lal Lal. The chief in speaking of it
distinguished between it and the Little River by describing the
water as La-al La-al—the a long—and by gesture
indicating the water-fall now so well known, the name signifying
falling water. Mr. Waldie subsequently took up country north-west
of Ballarat, and called his place Wyndholm, where he resided till
his decease. Messrs. Yuille had settled originally on the Barwon,
near Inverleigh, but finding the natives troublesome they retired
to Ballarat. Mr. Smythe, who with Mr. Prentice held the run, gave
the name to Smythe's Creek, as Messrs. Baillie had to the creek
at Carngham their run there being afterwards transferred to
Messrs. Russell and Simson. Mr. Darlot also occupied a run there.
Creswick Creek has its name from Henry Creswick, who settled upon
a small run there. Two brothers Creswick had previously held
country close to Warrenheip. The Messrs. Baillie were sons of Sir
William Baillie, Bart., of Polkemmet, Scotland. Mr. Andrew Scott
settled with his family at the foot of Mount Buninyong, where he
had a snug run in which the mount and its rich surrounding soil
were included. Mrs. Andrew Scott was the first lady who travelled
through this district. She drove across the dry bed of Lake
Burrumbeet in the year 1840. The country about Smeaton and
Coghill's Creek was taken up in the year 1838 by Captain Hepburn
and Mr. David Coghill who came overland from New South Wales with
sheep and cattle, following the route of Sir Thomas Mitchell in
his expedition of exploration in Port Phillip in 1836. With them
came Mr. Bowman, who also brought stock. He took up a run on the
Campaspe, while his companions came on further south. The Murray
was very low when they crossed, and the stock was easily passed
over. At the Ovens they found a dry river-bed; Lake Burrumbeet
was also dry that year. When Messrs. Hepburn and Coghill had left
sheep at the Campaspe and Brown's Creek on their way, they pushed
on, and from Mount Alexander they descried the Smeaton Hills,
and, continuing their journey, found and took up the unoccupied
country there. Smeaton Hill was called Quaratwong by the natives,
and the hill between the Glenlyon road and Smeaton Hill was
called Moorabool. Captain Hepburn, a seafaring man originally,
was one of the Hepburns of East Lothian, Scotland, and Smeaton
was named by him after the East Lothian estate held by his
relative, Sir Thomas Hepburn. Mr. Coghill was the first to plough
land at the creek which bears his name, and in which locality
there now is found one of the broadest and richest tracts of
farming land in Victoria. He brought with him overland a plough,
a harrow, and the parts of a hand steel flour-mill. In 1839 he
ploughed and sowed wheat, and thus grew and ground the first corn
grown there. In 1841 Captain Hepburn erected a water-mill for
corn on Birch's Creek; that was the first mill of that kind.
Birch's Creek was named after the brothers Arthur and Cecil
Birch, who, with the Rev. Mr. Irvine, came overland soon after
Messrs. Hepburn and Coghill, and settled at the Seven Hills.
Besides the run at Coghill's Creek, taken up by Mr. Coghill for
some others of his family. Cattle Station Hill was also taken by
him. This run lay between Glendaruel and the Seven Hills, and was
part of the purchased estate belonging to the Hepburns. The late
Captain Hepburn long acted as a justice of the peace, and he was
one of the squatters whom M'Combie mentions as having taken part
in a meeting held on the 4th of June, 1844, in front of the
Mechanics' Institute, Melbourne, to protest against Sir G. Gipps'
squatting policy, and to urge forward the movement for the
separation of Port Phillip from New South Wales. The squatters
mustered on horseback that day on Batman's Hill, and thence rode
to the meeting in Collins street, the "equestrian order" thus
giving an early example of the right freemen have, even in a
Crown colony, to air public grievances publicly and
fearlessly.

Lal Lal was taken up in the year 1840 by Messrs. Blakeney and
George Airey, the latter a brother of the Crimean officer so
often and so flatteringly mentioned in Kinglake's "History of the
Crimean War". In the same year, Messrs. Le Vet (or Levitt) and
another took up Warrenheip as a pig-growing station, but the
venture failed, and some of the pigs ran wild in the forest there
for years, and preyed on each other. After Messrs. Le Vet and Co.
had been there awhile, the run was taken up on behalf of Messrs.
Verner, Welsh, and Holloway, of the Gingellac run, on the Hume,
by Mr. Haverfield (at present the editor of the Bendigo
Advertiser), Le Vet and partner selling their improvements
for about £30. Shortly after Mr. Haverfield came to Warrenheip,
Bullarook Forest was occupied by Mr. John Peerman, for Mr. Lyon
Campbell. The Mr. Verner mentioned above was the first
Commissioner of the Melbourne Insolvency Court. He was related to
Sir William Verner, a member in the House of Commons for Armagh.
Mr. Verner took part, as chairman, at a Separation meeting held
in Melbourne on the 30th December, 1840, and soon after that he
left the colony. Mr. Welsh was the late Mr. Patricius Welsh, of
Ballarat; and Mr. Holloway became a gold-broker, and died at the
Camp at Bendigo. In the year 1843, Mr. Peter Inglis, who had a
station at Ballan, took up the Warrenheip run, and shortly after
that purchased the Lal Lal station, and throwing them both
together, grazed on the united runs one of the largest herds in
the colony. The western boundary of Mr. Inglis' Warrenheip run
marched with the eastern boundary of Mr. Yuille's run, the line
being struck by marked trees running from Mount Buninyong across
Brown Hill to Slaty Creek. Mr. Donald Stewart, now of Buninyong,
was stock-rider for Mr. Inglis, on the Warrenheip and Lal Lal
stations, and superintendent during the minority of the present
owner of Lal Lal. In 1839 Mr. W.H. Bacchus brought cattle from
Melbourne and grazed them on his run of Burrumbeetup, the centre
of which run is now occupied by the Ballan pound. There is a
waterfall on the Moorabool there, which, for its picturesque
beauty, is well worth visiting. The run extended on the Ballarat
side of the Moorabool to about midway to the Lal Lal Creek. Mr.
Bacchus still resides in the same locality, his present station
being known as Perewur, or Peerewurr, a native name, meaning
waterfall and opossums. It was originally held by Messrs.
Fairbairn and Gardner. Buninyong was a village, or township, long
before Ballarat had any existence as a settlement. The first huts
were built at Buninyong in the year 1841, by sawyers, splitters,
and others, Mr. George Innes being then called the "King of the
Splitters". George Gab, George Coleman, and others, were the
pioneers in the Buninyong settlement. Gab had a wife who used to
ride Amazonian fashion on a fine horse called Petrel, and both
husband and wife were energetic people. Gab opened a house of
accommodation for travellers on the spot where Jamison's hotel
was afterwards built. The first store in the neighborhood was
opened at the Round Water Holes, near Bonshaw, by Messrs. D.S.
Campbell and Woolley, of Melbourne, who almost immediately
afterwards removed to a site next Gab's, at Buninyong, whose
place they took for a kitchen. Gab then removed and built another
hut opposite to the present police-court, and he opened his new
hut also as a hotel. A blacksmith named M'Lachlan, with a
partner, opened a smithy opposite to Campbell and Wooley's store.
This was the nucleus of the principal inland town then in the
colony. In the year 1844 Dr. Power settled there, and built a hut
behind what was afterwards the Buninyong hotel. He was the first
medical man in the locality, and for years the settlers had no
other doctor nearer than Geelong. The young township became a
favorite place with bullock teamsters, who were glad to build
huts there where they could leave their wives and children in
some degree safe from aboriginal or other marauders. In the year
1847, the Rev. Thomas Hastie, the first clergyman in the
district, came to Buninyong. His house, and the church in which
he performed service, were built entirely by the residents in
Buninyong, both pecuniary gifts and manual labor being
contributed. Then, as afterwards, the Messrs. Learmonth were
among the foremost movers in the promotion of the mental and
moral, as well as material welfare of the people about them. Mr.
Hastie, in a letter to us, says:—

Before I came in 1847, the Messrs. Learmonth had made
several efforts to procure the settlement of a clergyman at
Buninyong, but had failed, partly from want of support, but
chiefly from their inability to procure one likely to be
suitable. Overtures had been made to Mr. Beazely, a
Congregational minister then in Tasmania, and afterwards in New
South Wales, but he declined them. The Messrs. Learmonth were
willing to take a minister from any denomination, and the
circumstance that a Presbyterian clergyman was settled here arose
from the fact that no other was available. Until after the gold
discovery there was no minister in the interior, that is out of
Melbourne, Geelong, Belfast, and Portland, but Mr. Hamilton of
Mortlake, Mr. Gow of Campbellfield, and myself. For many years my
diocese, as it may be called, extended from Batesford, on the
Barwon, to Glenlogie, in the Pyrenees, and included all the
country for miles on either side, my duties taking me from home
more than half my time. Before I came the Messrs. Learmonth had
contemplated the establishment of a cheap boarding-school for the
children of shepherds and others in the bush, but for prudential
reasons they deferred the matter till the settlement of a
minister offered the means of supervision. Immediately after I
came the project was carried out, and subscriptions were received
from most of the settlers in the Western district. The school was
opened in 1848 by Mr. Bedwell, £10 a year being charged for board
and education.


The gold discovery carried away the teachers, raised the
prices of everything, and Mr. Hastie had to see to the school and
its GO boarders himself; but through all the difficulties the
school was maintained with varying fortunes, until at length it
became the Common-school near the Presbyterian Manse, with an
average attendance of some 180 children.

What is now the boroughs of Ballarat, Ballarat East, and
Sebastopol, was then a pleasantly picturesque pastoral country.
Mount and range, and table land, gullies and creeks and grassy
slopes, here black and dense forest, there only sprinkled with
trees, and yonder showing clear reaches of grass, made up the
general landscape. A pastoral quiet reigned everywhere. Over the
whole expanse there was nothing of civilisation but a few
pastoral settlers and their retinue—the occasional flock of
nibbling sheep, or groups of cattle browsing in the broad
herbage. There were three permanent waterholes in those days
where the squatters used to find water for their flocks in the
driest times of summer. One was at the junction of the Gong Gong
and the Yarrowee, or Blakeney's Creek, as it was then called,
after the settler of that name there. Another was where the
Yarrowee bends under the ranges by the Brown Hill hotel, and the
other was near Golden Point. Aborigines built their mia-mias
about Wendouree, the kangaroo leaped unharmed down the ranges,
and fed upon the green slopes and flats where the Yarrowee rolled
its clear water along its winding course down the valley. Bullock
teams now and then plodded their dull, slow way across flat and
range, and made unwittingly the sites and curves of future
streets. Settlers would lighten their quasi[new?] solitude
with occasional chases of the kangaroo, where now the homes of a
busy population have made a city; it was a favorite resort of the
kangaroo, and Mr. A. Fisken, of Lal Lal, and other settlers often
hunted kangaroo where Main, Bridge, and other streets are now.
The emu, the wombat, the dingo, were also plentiful. The edge of
the eastern escarpment of the plateau where Ballarat West now is,
was then green and golden in the spring time with the indigenous
grass and trees. Where Sturt street descends to the flat was a
little gully, and its upper edges, where are now the London
Chartered Bank, the Post-office, and generally the eastern side
of Lydiard street, from Sturt street to the gaol site, were
prettily ornamented with wattles.
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"King Billy" And The Ballarat Tribe,
1851.

I often passed (says Mr. Hastie) the spot on which
Ballarat is built, when visiting Mr. Waldie, and there could not
be a prettier spot imagined. It was the very picture of repose.
There was, in general, plenty of grass and water, and often I
have seen the cattle in considerable numbers lying in quiet
enjoyment after being satisfied with the pasture. There was a
beautiful clump of wattles where Lydiard street now stands, and
on one occasion, when Mrs. Hastie was with me, she remarked,
"What a nice place for a house, with the flat in front and the
wattles behind!" Mr. Waldie had at that time a shepherd's hut
about where the Dead Horse Gully is on the Creswick Road, and one
day when I was calling on the hut-keeper, he said the solitude
was so painful that he could not endure it, for he saw no one
from the time the shepherds went out in the morning till they
returned at night. I was the only person he had ever seen there
who was not connected with the station.


The ground now occupied by Craig's hotel on one side of the
gully that ran down by the "Corner", and by the Camp buildings on
the other side, were favorite camping places in the pastoral
days. Safe from floods, and near to water and grass, the spot
invited herdsman and shepherd, bullock-driver and traveller, to
halt and repose.

The aborigines were nut numerous about Ballarat even in those
early days; a little earlier, however, as when Dowling Forest was
taken up, they were more numerous and were often troublesome,
being great thieves. Several of the adults were strongly marked
with small-pox at the time the locality was taken up for pastoral
occupation. The natives, were considered inferior to the Murray
tribes, and were generally indolent and often treacherous. From
time to time they were troublesome to the settlers—as well
to the good as to the bad. King Billy was the name given to the
chief of the tribes about here, and that regal personage for many
years wore a big brass plate bearing his title. He was chief of
the tribes about Mounts Buninyong and Emu, and King Jonathan, of
a Borhoneyghurk tribe, was his subordinate.

My brother and I (says Mr. Somerville L. Learmonth)
began by feeding and being kind to the natives, but not long
after the establishment of our first out-station, on the way to
Smythesdale, we were aroused in the dead of night by the
intelligence that Teddy, the hut-keeper, had been murdered. Some
of the natives had seen the ration-cart on the previous day; they
watched until the hut-keeper went unarmed to the well for water,
his return was intercepted, and one blow with a stone hatchet
laid him dead at the murderers' feet. The hut was robbed and a
shepherd brought to the homestead the Pad intelligence. A party
started next day in pursuit of the natives, but I have often felt
thankful that we failed in finding them. On two occasions our men
were attacked, but they resisted successfully and their
assailants retired. Frequently small numbers of sheep were
missing, but beyond this, and the stealing of small things when
allowed to come near a station, the natives never injured us. I
attribute our immunity to having issued orders, which were
enforced, that the natives should on no pretext be harbored about
any station. They are most expert thieves. I remember seeing a
woman who was employed in gathering potatoes quietly raise a
large proportion with her toes, and place the potatoes in her
wallet, the others being openly put into the receptacle provided
by the employer. Another gentleman, surprised at the rapidity
with which his crop withered away, examined and found that the
tubers had been removed and the stems placed in the ground
again.


The place where the Messrs. Learmonths' hut-keeper was
murdered was called Murdering Valley. It is near the
south-western boundary of the borough of Sebastopol, and was, a
few years ago, the scene of a more horrible tragedy than that of
the murder by the aborigines. Once in 1842 the natives were
troublesome on Mr. Inglis' run at Ballan. They had offered some
insult to a hut-keeper's wife and all the European force of the
station turned out with tin kettles, pistols, sticks and other
instruments of noise and defence or offence—a great noise
and demonstration were made to terrify the natives and thus that
trouble was got over. Mr. Hastie says that when he first came to
Buninyong the natives were "comparatively numerous". They used to
come to the manse for food, in return for which they would fetch
or break up fire wood.

As a pendant to the Rev. Mr. Hastie's picture of
pre-auriferous Ballarat, the following, given to the author by
Henry Hannington, will further help to illustrate the "origins"
of the place. Mr. Hannington says:—

I was several times about Ballarat before the
diggings in 1851. In the year 1844 I was driving a team of
bullocks for Mr. Duncan Cameron, of Pascoe Vale, from his
station. Yuille's Swamp (Lake Wendouree) was a camping place for
teams, and the bullocks generally made off for the flat by Golden
Point, where the grass was always green in the driest of summers.
The timber on the flat was white gum, not thick. The creek
opposite to Golden Point was shallow, about 15 inches deep. There
was one water hole near Grimley's Baths (between Bridge Street
and the Gas Works). I used to see a log hut or two about when I
went after the bullocks, and some sawyers and splitters had huts
and a few cattle on the ranges. The road from the Grampians to
Geelong and Melbourne was the same as at present. It went past
where the Unicorn Hotel is (opposite to the Post Office), then
round Dan. Fern's corner (Albert Street), across the creek near
Golden Point, and then to Buninyong, to the publichouse kept by
Mrs. Jamieson, who was called Mother Jamieson. From there it went
to Fisken's, near the Lal Lal Falls, for water for the teams. We
had several visits from the black lubras. The blackfellows seldom
came with them. We all had to carry firearms, as the blacks were
treacherous, and were spearing hut keepers and others every day.
I got safe with my team to Moonee Ponds, Pasco Vale, and had to
come back to the Ballarat District in 1845, as there was an order
from the Government for a few free men to join the new mounted
police, and I was sent to Mr. Edward Parker, the protector of the
blacks at Jim Crow Creek (Daylesford). I had nothing much to do.
Went once a week for the mail, and was often about Ballarat
looking up horses, as they always made for the flat opposite
Golden Point. Everything looked then pretty much as it had the
year before.


Hannington is only one of the vouchers for the water supply of
the Yarrowee valley, but as old or older settlers than he tell
us, as we have in part seen already, of the occasional drying up
of what now seems to be permanent waters. Thus, one of the
Learmonths writing to the Corn Stalk, in April, 1858,
says:—

When we discovered the country around Burrumbeet, in
January, 1838, there were then a few inches of intensely salt
water in the lake. In June of that year the water dried up, and
in the three following years Lakes Burrumbeet and Learmonth were
quite dry and covered with coarse grass, which the cattle and
sheep fed over, and which was burned in each of these summers.
There was a little water in the middle of both lakes not
evaporated at the end of the summer of 1842, and since then there
was a gradual increase in both till 1852 when it reached its
maximum and has been fluctuating since then. All the swamps and
most of the springs that now supply water were perfectly dry, or
nearly so, in the years 1839, 1840, 1841. The Moorabool did not
run in these years, and the Leigh and the Barwon only for a few
weeks, and then not more than knee deep. During these dry seasons
Burrumbeet was fringed with a sort of myrtle, which must have
been growing there for some time, for the trees had attained a
considerable size, as may be seen by their stumps and roots which
are still visible a hundred yards within water mark. With regard
to Yuille's Swamp, from which Ballarat is supplied with water, it
also was dry in the years I have mentioned, but the water in it,
when the winter rains did not fail, was always good, which was
not the case with many of the lagoons in the
district.


Mr. Waldie corroborates Mr. Learmonth as to Yuille's Swamp,
and Mr. Learmonth, with smaller, other eyes than those of
subsequent water-supply caterers, remarks that if Yuille's Swamp
were improved by feeders from Waldie's Creek "very inexpensive
works would furnish Ballarat with an abundant and cheap supply of
water at all times."

Hannington, like many another waif of the old days, seems, as
we shall see by and bye, to have got stranded in the shallows
whilst other craft about him swept on to fair havens. The
squatters, too, were not fixed like the land they occupied, for
they had their exits and their entrances, as we have seen, and
many departed for good and all. It was thus with the Learmonths
eventually, albeit they remained for many years after the date of
the days of which we are now treating. Their Buninyong
pre-emptive they let on a mining lease and after that they sold
the hind. Still holding the Ercildoun estate, they ventured,
themselves, some years later, upon the fortunes of mining, and
took a quartz mine at Egerton, appointed a manager, won a good
deal of gold, then sold the mine and sued the vendees, including
the manager, who had sold as the vendors' agent and then joined
the vendees. But this matter is dealt with further down the
stream of our story. Not long after the law suit the last of the
Learmonths left the colony or was dead. Ercildoun, the place
where their famous merino flocks had borne them so many golden
fleeces, was sold to Sir Samuel Wilson, and he eventually became
an absentee, living in Earl Beaconsfield's house of Hughenden,
and after some defeats becoming a member of the House of Commons,
where he now sits as representative for Portsmouth.

Ballarat, or, more properly, Ballaarat, is a native name,
signifying a camping or resting place, balla meaning
elbow, or reclining on the elbow; all native names beginning with
balla have a similar significance. Wendouree is the
anglicised form of Wendaaree, a native word, signifying
"be off", "off you go." Yarrowee is probably a Scottish settler's
use of the Scottish Yarrow, with a diminutive to suit the
smaller stream. Buninyong, or, as the natives have it,
Bunning-yowang, means a big hill like a knee—bunning
meaning knee, and yowang hill This name was given by the
natives to Mount Buninyong because the mount, when seen-from a
given point, resembled a man lying on his back with his knee
drawn up. The Yow-Yangs, by the Werribee, is a form of
Yowang. Station Peak, one of the Yow-Yangs, was called
Villamata by the natives. Warrengeep, corrupted to
Warrenheip, means emu feathers; the name was given to Mount
Warrenheip from the appearance presented by the ferns and other
forest growths there. Gong Gong, or Gang Gang, is an aboriginal
name for a species of parrot; Burrumbeet means muddy water, and
Woady Yaloak standing water. Mount Pisgah, in the lake country,
was first known as Pettett's Look-Out, and Mount Rowan as
Shuter's Hill. Mount Blowhard had no name among the settlers
until one of Pettett's shepherd-boys gave it that name, from
having often proved the appropriateness of such a designation,
since his experiences of windy days there had been frequent.

As a race the Australian squatters were brave and adventurous.
Many of them were men of liberal education and broad and generous
culture, and some were men bearing old historic names, as well as
possessing the instincts and the discipline of gentlemen. Others
were vulgar boors, whose only genius lay in adding Hock to flock,
run to run, and swelling annually the balance at their bankers.
The first squatters took their lives in their hands, for they had
to fight with various enemies—a treacherous native
population, drought, hunger, and on all sides difficulties. Says
Mr. Coghill, in a viva voce [4]
communication to us:—

Every day, I may say for ten years, I have been many
hours in the saddle. I never had much trouble with the natives,
only that they would sometimes thieve a little; but I used always
to make a point of going to them and talking to them as well as I
could, and explaining to them that if they behaved themselves
they would not be molested. I remember the bother we had with our
first wool. We did not know how to get it down to ship, and we
thought we would send it by way of Morrison's station, on the
Campaspe. We had to cross the Jim Crow ranges, and we were a week
among the gullies and creeks there before we could get a passage
with our wool across the ranges.


The squatters were essentially explorers, and encountered all
the risks of exploration. Over mountain and valley, through
forest and across plain, they went where everything was new to
civilisation. Passing by arid, treeless, grassless wastes, mere
howling wildernesses of desolation, they pursued their way to
tracts of boundless fertility, lands flowing, prospectively, with
milk and honey, potentially rich in corn, and wine, and oil. Ever
among the virgin newness of an unsubdued country, they steered
their course by by guided by the sun or the compass; at night,
led by the skies, as, to quote the great New England poet's
melodious, child like conceit.


Silently, one by
one, in the infinite meadows of heaven,

Blossomed the lovely stars, the forget-me nots of the
angels.


This may seem to be a romantic view of the squatter, but it is
a real one. It is as real as the cutty pipes, the spirit flasks,
the night rugs, the camp fires, the rivalries, ambitions,
generous hospitalities, and occasional meannesses of the race.
Doubtless they sought their own good, hut, however unwittingly,
they actually became the beneficial occupiers of the laud for
others. The teeming hosts drawn hither afterwards by the more
dazzling hopes of fortune, and becoming eventually, and not
without reason, hostile to the squatter, were in great part fed
by the countless flocks and herds which the pastoral pioneers had
spread over the wide pastures of this fair and fertile home of
all the nations. With what to the squatter must have seemed like
rash and boisterous violence, the sudden tide of population
dashed its confluent waves upon our shores, and the serried ranks
of the new army of industry marched boldly in upon the domains of
the squatter, rudely disturbed his quiet dreams of perpetual
occupation, and added at once a hundredfold to the market value
of all his possessions.

From the first pastoral settlement to the discovery of gold
there was a wool-growing, cattle-breeding period of something
more than one decade. In that period the courage and the
enterprise of the squatters, the real pioneers of all our
settlement, had achieved no little in the direction of the
development of the value of the main source of all national
wealth—the land. Mr. M'Combie, in his "History of
Victoria", remarks of the early years of settlement:—

During the ten years that the province of Port
Phillip had been settled, it had been daily progressing in
population and wealth. Vast interests had been silently growing
up, and new classes were beginning to emerge into importance. All
depended upon the land. The first wealth of Port Phillip was
acquired from pastoral pursuits, and nearly every person was
either directly or indirectly engaged in squatting.


But while those "vast interests had been silently growing up",
there had been occasional premonitions of a rapid and turbulent
change. While the shepherds fed their flocks by night and by day,
other voices than those of angels in the air were heard in some
places. In some of the more picturesque nooks of the district
traversed by the Pyrenees and their off-shoots, the solitary
shepherd, or squatter, on one or two occasions, or oftener still,
saw sudden visions of easily won and boundless immediate wealth.
Where the broad belts of purple forest spread out, and fair green
glades and glens and ravines stretched over the swelling ranges
of the district, the bushman wandered from silence to silence
that only the elements or the birds of the native woods ever
disturbed. Then it was that the first whisperings were heard of
the rich secrets of the unmeasured geologic ages, and the first
gleams were caught of the visions that had in them, however dim
and formless then, the promise of a more brilliant epoch. But it
may be well supposed that those hardy pioneers recked not then,
even as they knew not, of the troubles that would fall to the
squatter with the sturdy democracy of the then coming time. They
were lords of all they surveyed. Of all earth-hungerers, they
were, assuredly, among the hungriest, for, as Westgarth says,
they had "a cormorant capacity for land". Over tens of thousands
of acres of broad lands they roamed in the jocund spirit of
undisputed occupation, and the still broader future lay
unexplored, though even then the democratic invasion was
imminent. The visions we wot of had been seen, but if seen were
not all revealed. They were not at once blazoned forth to the
public ear, but stealthily treasured or stealthily told, for
instinct of change, of hope, of fear, more or less held back all
who had seen the bright spectacle. The governing authorities
heard of the things seen, and were offered proofs of the reality
of the fateful discovery; but the same instinct and horror of
change restrained them also from giving the revelations to the
world. But the secret had escaped for ever when the first
glittering speck glared as a lurid omen of evil, or lit up bright
hopes that fell like a burst of sudden sunshine upon the silent,
solitary settler. The new thing might be feared, or worshipped,
fought against or cherished by the timid or selfish possessors of
office and settlements, but it was to master all their purposes.
Thus was foreshadowed the quicker entry of Australia among the
peoples and the nations, the coming of the population from all
the corners of the earth to overrun the quiet haunts of the
squatter and the shepherd, the beginning of the new interests,
and a grander destiny for the whole continent.
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Ballarat in 1852 (looking north-west from Mt.
Buninyong).
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O T E N T as was the wonderful lamp of Aladdin, and
magnificent as were its successes, the power of gold has equalled
in its marvellous effects all that the warm orient fancy has
pictured for us in the Arabian Nights. Gold has done even more
than ever mere magician achieved. It certainly has operated
magically in Australia, and in no part of the country has it
created greater marvels than in Ballarat. Everywhere the
resistless charm operates similarly, but it is not everywhere
that its material results are alike notable. California and
Australia have caught the more gorgeous lights and colors, and
though some dark shadows mingle with the magnificence of the
general results, the gold discovery in both countries has worked
prodigies, and many of its creations remain. They not only
remain, but are in themselves seminal powers forecasting greater
wonders in the future. All that lies in the unknown future of
this continent must be connected with the past and the present,
and these, in their grander features, take their form from the
matrix in which they were born—the gold discovery of the
year 1851.

California electrified Europe and the United States by its
gold discoveries in the years 1848-9, and that event was soon
followed by the discovery of gold in Australia. Geologists who
had studied maps and noted the auriferous mountain lines of the
Ural and California, no sooner heard of Australian strata and the
bearings of the mountains and ranges, than the existence of gold
in this island continent was predicted. In the older settlements,
too, of New South Wales, the aboriginies and the whites had
occasionally stumbled upon glittering metals, as afterwards they
did also in Victoria; but it was the Californian prospector,
Hargreaves, who first publicly demonstrated the existence of gold
in Australia. Actually, the discovery by others seems to have
occurred both in New South Wales and Victoria about the time of
the Californian rush in the year 1849. From a despatch dated 11th
June, 1851, to Earl Grey from Sir C.A. Fitz Roy, then Governor of
New South Wales, we learn that some two years before then a Mr.
Smith announced to Sir Charles' Government the discovery of gold.
A dispatch from Mr. Latrobe, the Governor of Victoria at the time
of Esmond's discoveries, mentions the discovery of gold some two
or three years previously in the Victorian Pyrenees. Smith was
attached to some ironworks at Berrima. He showed a lump of golden
quartz to the Chief Secretary in Sydney, and offered, upon terms,
to reveal the locality of his discovery. The Sydney Government,
if we may take the Governor's despatch as a guide, had some
doubts both as to the veracity of the applicant and the propriety
of making known his discovery even if a reality.

Apart (says Sir C.A. Fitz Roy) from my suspicions
that the piece of gold might have come from California, there was
the opinion that any open investigation by the Government would
only tend to agitate the public mind, and divert persons from
their proper and more certain avocations.


Then, on the 3rd April, 1851, Mr Hargreaves appeared upon the
scene, Smith having vanished in refusing to "trust to the
liberality" of the Sydney Government. Mr. Hargreaves was a man of
greater faith than Smith, and he disclosed the localities in
which he had discovered the precious metal. The localities were
near Bathurst. The news spread all over the colonies, and the
Bathurst and adjacent districts were rushed, to the great terror
of quiet pastoral Settlers, and the annoyance of the respectable
Government of Sydney. From the Governors despatches to Downing
Street, it appears that the official mind was much agitated what
to do. Settlers advised absolute prohibition of gold digging, and
the authorities were in doubt as to whether it might be safe to
impose regulations and a tax. Counsel's opinion was obtained as
to the property of the Crown in the precious mineral, and
ultimately a license tax of thirty shillings per month was levied
upon the Bathurst diggers. The Rev. W.B. Clark, the geologist,
gave excellent geological and political advice at the time, in
the columns of the Sydney Morning Herald. He sagaciously
remarked that "the momentary effect of the gold mania may be to
upset existing relations; but the effect will be a rapid increase
of population, and the colony must prepare herself for an
important growth in her influence upon the destinies of the
world."

The police despatches to the Sydney authorities described the
miners as "quiet and peaceable, but almost to a man armed",
wherefore the officer advised, "that no police power could
enforce the collection of dues against the feeling of the
majority." Hargreaves came to the aid of the authorities as a man
strong in counsel and Californian experience. A minute of
Hargreaves' is worth noting—"There existed (he says) no
difficulty in obtaining the fees in California." But this was no
marvel, as will be seen by the following revelation. "All the
people (he continues) at the mines are honest and orderly. I was
alcadi there. If a complaint be made the alcadi summonses a jury,
and the decision is submitted to. A man found guilty of stealing
is hung immediately." This was not less direct as a system of
jurisprudence than that practised, as Dixon and Dilke tell us, by
the sheriff of Denver, on the buffalo plains of America, where
criminals had a very brief shrift and a quick nocturnal "escape"
up the gallows tree. Yet we do not learn that in Denver, or
anywhere else in that part of America, "all the people" were
either honest or orderly, as Alcadi Hargreaves says they were in
California. But then the Sydney prospector left his aleadiship in
the early days, when the Arcadian simplicity of mining society
had not yet lost the fresh bloom of what we will take to have
been its early and honest youth. The Bathurst diggers appear to
have behaved pretty well on the whole.

In July, 1851, occurred what the Sydney Morning Herald
called "a most marvellous event", namely, the discovery of a mass
of gold 106 lbs. weight imbedded in quartz. This made everybody
wild with excitement. The Bathurst Free Press, of 16th
July, said—"Men meet together, stare stupidly at each
other, talk incoherent nonsense, and wonder what will happen
next." Some blacks in the employment of a Dr. Kerr found this
prize, their master appropriated it, and gave the finders two
flocks of sheep, besides some bullocks and horses. Possibly this
was the basis of Charles Reade's great nugget incident in his
"Never Too Late to Mend". It may be noted here that last November
the discovery of a similar mass took place at Braidwood, in New
South Wales. The weight of the specimen was given at 350 lbs., of
which two-thirds were estimated to be pure gold. We may conclude
this notice of the discovery of gold in New South Wales by
quoting the first assay of gold as given in the Government
despatches from Sydney, under date 24th May, 1851. This assay was
as follows:—
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Victoria was not long behind New South Wales in finding a
gold-field, and it soon caused the elder colony to pale its
ineffectual fires in the greater brilliance of the Victorian
discoveries. James William Esmond was to Victoria what Hargreaves
was to New South Wales. Esmond, like Hargreaves, had been at the
Californian gold-fields, and had an impression that the
Australian soil was also auriferous. He left Port Phillip for
California in June, 1849, observed that there were similarities
in soil and general features between Clunes and California, and
decided to return and explore his Australian home for gold. It
chanced that Esmond and Hargreaves were fellow passengers on
their return from California to Sydney. Esmond found gold on the
northern side of the hill opposite to Cameron's, subsequently
M'Donald's pre-emptive right, at Clunes, on Tuesday, the 1st of
July, 1851, and gold was found about the same time at Anderson's
Creek, near Melbourne.

According to a letter written by Esmond to the Ballarat
Courier on the 4th November, 1884, it appears that the above
dates may be shifted a little. Esmond says in his Courier
letter:—


On the 29th of June, 1851, I discovered gold in
quartz and alluvial at Clunes, and brought it to Geelong. I
showed the same to William Patterson, then watchmaker, afterwards
assayer for the Bank of Australia, who tested the samples in the
presence of Mr. Alfred Clarke, of the Geelong Advertiser,
who reported my discovery on the following Monday, the 8th July,
1851. During that week I never heard of any gold discovery having
been made or spoken of, except the discovery at Clunes. Previous
to the discovery of gold in California, it was reported that a
shepherd on McNeil and Hall's station at the Pyrenees discovered
a lump of gold, and that he sold it to a person named Brentani, a
jeweller in Melbourne. Captain Dana and his black troopers were
sent up to ascertain if there was any truth in the reported
discovery. A few people assembled on the ground to seek for the
precious metal, but they all failed. I was living in the locality
at the time, but did not go to the rush, believing it to be a
hoax; but I thought differently after returning from the
Californian diggings, which I visited in 1849. Anderson's Creek
was the first diggings I heard of after Clunes was opened, Mr.
Mitchell being the discoverer, and Buninyong was the next, by Mr.
Hiscocks. *** In a few weeks afterwards I
returned to Clunes, and collected a sample of gold, some 8 oz. or
9 oz., which I sent to Mr. Patterson, of Geelong. This was the
first sample of gold sold or produced in the Victorian market. My
object in writing this letter, sir, is to inform the public where
the first payable gold-field in the colony of Victoria was
opened, and what I state I don't think any person will
dispute.



Esmond published his discovery in Geelong on the 6th of July,
Hargreaves having preceded him in the sister colony by some two
months. But we have seen that before Hargreaves there was a
Smith, who would not accept the terms of the Sydney Government,
and so disappeared. There was yet another discoverer earlier than
the man of the Berrima ironworks. Mr. John Phillips, late
Government mineralogical surveyor, and then mining surveyor for
the Victorian Government at St. Arnaud, discovered gold in South
Australia before any of the explorers previously mentioned. He
announced his discoveries to the authorities in South Australia
and Port Phillip, and to Sir Roderick Murchison, but neither of
the local Governments acted upon his discovery. The discovery by
Mr. Phillips was about synchronous with discoveries made by the
Rev. W.B. Clarke, and had been foreshadowed in the geological
predictions of Sir Roderick Murchison and Count Strzelecki. Mr.
Phillips got nothing for his pains, and Esmond was less fortunate
than Hargreaves in the matter of public recognition and reward.
To Hargreaves were voted £10,000 by the Government of New South
Wales, and subsequently £2381 by the Victorian Parliament,
Esmond, after a hard light, receiving a vote of £1000 from the
Parliament of Victoria, and some small public, quasi-public, and
private rewards besides. But he did not receive the amount all at
once, though early proposed. On the 5th October, 1854, Dr.
Greeves proposed, in the Legislative Council, a vote of £5000 to
Hargreaves, and in his speech he admitted that Esmond was "the
first actual producer of alluvial gold for the market." The
motion was carried. Mr. Strachan moved, supported by the late Mr.
Haines, and only seven others, an amendment for giving £1000 each
to Hargreaves, Esmond, Hiscock, Mitchell, and Clarke, and £500 to
a Dr. Bruhn, who was said by Dr. Greeves to have advised Esmond
as to the existence of gold in Victoria. There was an earlier
discovery than Esmond's in Victoria, asserted by Mr. J. Wood
Beilby, as the repository of a secret from the person who was
said to have been the actual discoverer. But Beilby does not
claim for public revelation, but only as the revealer to the
Government of the day. In a pamphlet published by Dwight, of
Melbourne, in Beilby's interests as a claimant for State reward,
the following statement is found:—


Mr. J. Wood Beilby establishes, by the production
(from the Chief Secretary's office) of his correspondence with
Mr. La Trobe, and concurring documentary evidence, the fact that,
so early as 7th June, 1851, or some weeks earlier than Mr. Wm.
Campbell, he informed the Government of the existence of gold in
workable deposits at the locality now known as Navarre, and in
the ranges of the Amherst district. Mr. B. does not claim to have
been the original discoverer, but to have placed the information
before Government, for the benefit of the public, at the critical
period when its value in arresting the threatened exodus of our
population to Bathurst was immense. Mr. La Trobe was at first
very incredulous, evidently not having been made aware
previously, of the existence of gold as one of the mineral
products of Victoria, as his reply, by letter of 11th June, 1851,
demonstrates. Mr. B., however, supplied further details of
information, and, waiting upon him personally, so urged
investigation, offering to share expenses, that Mr. La Trobe
organised a prospecting party, including Mr. David Armstrong,
then a returned Californian digger, afterwards gold commissioner,
and the late Capt. H.E.P. Dana, attended by a party of native
police; Mr. Commissioner Wright, resident at the Pyrenees, being
nominated to act with the gentlemen of the party as a board of
enquiry. From various causes the expedition was delayed starting
from the Aboriginal Police Depôt, Narree Worran, until a few days
before the publication of Mr. Campbell's letter. But the news was
made public. Although Mr. La Trobe had requested Mr. Beilby to
abstain from further publication of the fact until the result of
his investigations, the officials named to accompany the
expedition, and their subordinates and outfitters, were not
tongue-tied or bound to secrecy. It is, therefore, no matter of
surprise that their intended prospecting trip to the Pyrenees was
bruited far and wide; and, as a sequence, their investigations
forestalled by the discoveries at Clunes.



In or about 1847-8, William Richfould, the author of the
discovery published by Mr. Beilby, was a shepherd in the
employment of Mr. W.J.T. Clarke, at his upper outstation on the
Heifer Station Creek, Navarre. He was an intelligent and
observant man, and always looking for and preserving natural
curiosities. He discovered water-worn gold in the crevices of a
brownish slate rock, in the bed and sides of the creek close to
the ranges, and also found a few specimens of gold in quartz upon
the surrounding ranges. These specimens he from time to time
disposed of. In 1848, finding himself followed and watched by his
fellow servants too closely, and being at the time desirous of
selling some valuable specimens, he journeyed westward, and
meeting Mr. Armstrong, an employé of S.G. Henty, Esq., at the
Grange, he was induced to visit Portland, and disposed of his
gold to merchants there, by whom it was sent to Tasmania as
Californian gold; being probably represented to them as such, the
then current popular belief being that all gold deposits belong
to the Queen, and that its appropriation by an unauthorised
person was punishable. Richfould then engaged as shepherd with
Mr. Beilby at Mount Gambler, and shortly after showed Mr. B. some
small specimens of gold he had retained, refusing, however, at
that period, to give any information as to the locality of his
discovery. Subsequently, in July, 1849, he divulged his secret to
Mr. B. on his pledge to keep it, unless its publication was
required by public emergency, or the discoverer died. Richfould
after this left Mr. B.'s service, professedely to return to the
scene of his discoveries. Nothing certain is now known of his
subsequent history, but his death was shortly afterwards reported
in the Mount Gambier district.



Some two years before either Esmond's or Beilby's dates there
was a discovery of gold at the Pyrenees asserted by one Chapman,
who sold gold to a jeweller in Melbourne, named Brentani. Chapman
was at that time shepherd at Mr. Hall's station near the
Pyrenees, the locality of the subsequently opened Daisy Hill
diggings. Brentani and his trade hands made up a secret party
with Chapman to go to the Pyrenees and get "a dray-load of gold".
They went, but did not get the dray-load of gold, and Chapman
mysteriously disappeared and was not heard much of again.
Brentani and his men do not seem to have pushed their search or
disclosed what they had heard, or seen, or done. M'Combie also
mentions the finding of gold in quartz by W. Campbell, of
Strathlodden (M.L.C.), in March, 1849, at Burnbank, and also at
Clunes, near where Esmond subsequently made his more fertile
discovery. Clunes was named by Mr. Donald Cameron after a farm at
Inverness in Scotland.

Mr. Bacchus, of Perewur, in whose service Chapman had once
been, chanced to meet Chapman in Sydney. Mr. Bacchus wrote a
letter on the 1st July, 1851, which was published in the
Argus, and copied into the Sydney Morning Herald of
the 23rd July, 1851, and in that letter he says:—

Chapman is an old servant of mine, and I have every
reason to believe his story. He says he left Melbourne for Sydney
because he felt himself watched, and was regularly hunted for
information as to where he had found the gold. He says he never
took Brentani and Duchesne within miles of the place, and gives
an excellent reason for not doing so. His story is plain and
straightforward, and from his description of the place I think he
might be able to put any one in the way of claiming the reward.
He offers to show the exact place at which he picked up the piece
of gold, for the sum of £50 and his passage from
Sydney.


Mr. Bacchus, writing to us with the alcove enclosure,
states:—


About the same time I wrote to another person in
Victoria:—"From what I have heard and seen of the
description of country where gold is found in this Colony
(N.S.W.) I have no doubt that it can be obtained in Lerderderg
and other creeks running from Mount Blackwood and Bullencrook
towards Bacchus Marsh." And so it was a few weeks after. I give
another extract of a letter to me from a friend in Victoria,
dated in July, 1851;—"Coming from one so well-known as
yourself your letter in the Argus attracted great
attention, and has been the means of preventing numbers from
leaving here for Sydney. No end of people have set out in the
direction indicated by you."
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Store Drays camped on road to Ballarat,
1853.

The reward referred to by Mr. Bacchus was advertised by the
Port Phillip Government, the disclosure of Hargreaves' discovery
having compelled the Government here to abandon its previous
policy of fear as to the possible consequences of such a
discovery, as it was expected there would be a wholesale exodus
to New South Wales. The Lerderderg locality has been proved, as
Mr. Bacchus states, to be auriferous, but the country there has
not been very rich in the precious metal.

The recommendation of the Committee of Parliament, prior to
the year 1857, was that £10,000 be divided amongst certain
claimants, and that Hargreaves should have £5000 and Esmond
£1000, but the Parliament reduced Hargreaves' vote to £2500 and
Esmond's to £500; the £10,000 recommended to the batch of
claimants selected being reduced one-half. There appears to have
been a motion carried by Dr. Greeves for a vote of £5000 to
Hargreaves, but that must have been a conditional vote or else a
reversal took place, as the final award was only half the sum
recommended by the Committee. Humffray, in July, 1857, enquired
in the Assembly why Esmond had not had the £1000; and
subsequently the Parliament did the tardy justice to the Clunes
discoverer of voting him the balance of the £1000 originally
recommended. Ten years after Humffray's question as to Esmond,
namely—in July, 1857, Frazer moved in Hargreaves' interest
and asked the Assembly to vote him £2619, the balance of the sum
recommended by the Committee of Parliament. The motion was
refused by the House, but by a narrow majority, nineteen voting
for and twenty-one against the motion. Most people, probably,
will be of opinion that Hargreaves was amply rewarded, whatever
may be thought of the official recognition of Victorian
discoverers. To them the Governments and Parliaments appear to
have shown a rather wayward disposition, and to have distributed
votes upon principles not always very obvious. The persistent
refusal of recognition of Beilby's claim seems to be an instance
in point, for though he could not claim as a producer of gold he
gives evidence of priority as a revealer of its existence, and it
is reasonable to presume that his revelation was one of the
impulses that led to explorations whose results are now before
the world. The reward paid to Hiscock for the discovery of a
locality which scarcely paid the miner as a gold-Held, contrasts
also with the non-recognition of Connor's and Merrick's parties
who discovered Ballarat itself. If any principle should be held
to have guided the Governments of the day, it may be assumed that
valuable discovery, not barren discovery, first claimed
attention. Yet Hargreaves, who discovered nothing in Victoria,
got more than Esmond, and Beilby, who first announced discovery,
and Connor's and Merrick's parties, who actually discovered
Ballarat, have received nothing. It must be felt that if
Hargreaves merited what he received some of the Victorian
discoverers and revealers met with scant acknowledgment, and that
amongst these last the unfortunate J. Wood Beilby, and the Golden
Point discoverers, may be included.

As soon as Esmond's discovery was known prospecting parties
set out from the seaboard, and early in August the late Mr.
Hiscock found gold in the gully near Buninyong which now bears
his name. The ground was poor and was abandoned as richer fields
were soon discovered. The Ballarat gold-held was discovered by
other prospectors, two only of whom were in Ballarat in 1870,
namely—Wm. Woodward, a French polisher, living in Chancery
lane (late Eureka street), Ballarat West; and Rd. Turner, a house
decorator, living in Raglan street south, Ballarat West. Of these
two, Turner only survives, and is still here. Woodward was in
Connor's party of six persons, namely—Connor, Woodward,
Brown, Jeanes, Smith, and Thornton. Turner was with four others,
namely—Dunn, Merrick, Wilson, and a man named Charlie, the
party having, from Alfred Clarke, the name of the Geelong Mutual
Mining Association. Merrick, some years since, was mining at
Dolly's Creek, Connor and Brown are dead, Thornton was lately at
Miners' Rest, and Dunn, Jeanes, and Smith in Geelong. Both
parties left Geelong for Clunes, but on the way met Alfred
Clarke, who informed them of Hiscock's discovery, and they
therefore began digging at Hiscock's, Gully, but the ground did
not pay. Preserving the tenses of the first edition, when the
author had personal interviews with the discoverers, we must say
that Woodward and Turner differ a little in some of their dates
and facts, and appear in some sort to be rival claimants for the
honor of the discovery of Golden Point. Woodward asserts for his
party the exclusive right to whatever honor belongs to the
discovery, while Turner claims for his party equal credit as
being discoverers simultaneously with Connor's party. Woodward
says the discovery was made by Brown on Monday, the 25th of
August; Turner says it was made by himself and Merrick on Sunday,
the 24th, and that Brown made his discovery on the same day.
Woodward says that on the 25th Brown was sent out to prospect and
returned the same day, saying he had found gold in every dishful
of dirt, and wanted men and the cradle to go with him. On the
26th three others of the party went with Brown and the cradle,
and got 4½ oz. of gold for the first two hours' work. That day
they first used the cradle, and for the first day's full work
obtained 30 oz. of gold. Woodward also says that Turner and
Merrick's party reached the Point on the Tuesday, but not
earlier. Turner avers, on the contrary, that on the Sunday he and
Merrick went out to look—as advised by some diggers in
Geelong returned from California—for hills with quartz
gravel and boulders. They went by way of Winter's Flat, ascended
the ranges, found a ¼ oz. of gold in a tin dishful of dirt,
carefully concealed the traces of their prospecting, returned to
Buninyong, and told the news to their partners. He states that on
the Monday both his party and Connor's party left Buninyong for
the Point, his own party being bogged in Winter's Plat by the
way, and part only reaching the Point that night, the remainder
arriving next day. Merrick, as Turner avers, commenced cradling
on the Tuesday morning, for the purpose of being able to say they
were the first to do so. They obtained 9 oz. or 10 oz. of gold
during the first week, being less fortunate in that respect than
Connor's party. Turner admits that Connor's party were the first
to arrive at the Point, but he says it was on Monday, and that a
few hours later on the same day some of Turner and Merrick's
party were also there. Both parties agree that they were there
together on the Tuesday, and that all the men on the field then
were only about half a score. Dunn, writing from memory at
Chilwell, Geelong, on the 9th of February, 1870, sent the
following letter to Turner:—

Dear Sir,—In answer to yours of the 8th inst.,
I shall give you a full and true account of our gold prospecting,
and the first discovery of Golden Point, as follows:—1st.
Richard Turner, James Merrick, Thomas Dunn, George Wilson,
Charles Gerrard, James Batty. 2nd. Started from town on Tuesday,
8th August, 1851; met with an accident on Batesford Hill, the
loaded dray passing over the driver's stomach, left him at Mrs.
Primrose's with the Chinese Doctor, proceeding on journey (for
the Clunes) but stopped at Buninyong near a fortnight. The party
getting dissatisfied, Wilson and I agreed to go in search of
better diggings, so we started from Buninyong on the Sunday
morning 24th August, 1851, between 10 and 11 o'clock, with tin
dish and shovel to find the Black Hill; reached there about 2
o'clock, saw Greenwood's party with a few specks of the color,
left the Black Hill about half-past three. In coming over
Winter's Flat, I says to George—"There is a likely little
quartz hill, let us try it before we go home." It was pouring of
rain at the time. So with that I cut a square turf, then partly
filled the dish and went to the creek to wash it. Oh, what joy!
there was about ten or twelve grains of fine gold. So we left
off, covered up with turf, and made for home as fast as possible
through the rain; reached home like two drowned rats; started
next morning early for our new discovery; reached there in the
afternoon; had the cradle at work next morning. I firmly believe
that I, Thomas Dunn, and George Wilson were the first men, and
got the first gold, on the little quartz hill now known as Golden
Point. If there is any one that can dispute this letter let them
come forward publicly like men.


I
remain, yours, &c.,

THOMAS DUNN.

From memory in Ballarat, since giving us an oral statement,
Woodward writes the following as to the discovery:—

Connor, Woodward, Jeanes, Thornton, and Brown left
Geelong, Wednesday, 20th August, 1851. Smith arrived on Sunday,
24th August. Brown started (for new ground) Monday morning, 25th.
Meeting on Monday evening to petition against paying license-fee
for the month of September on account of gold not being
sufficient to pay expenses. On the 26th Brown came back for three
more men, horse and curt and cradle, and the two first hours'
work gave 4½ oz. Commissioners arrived on Friday, 19th September,
asking for Connor's party; taking the pannikin up with the gold
remarking—"This is a proof it will pay the license-fee." On
the 20th Commissioner sends for Connor to pay the license-fee for
the remainder of the month. After Connor had paid the license he
was pelted with clay and bonnetted. A public meeting was held
outside the bark hut in the hearing of the Commissioners, Herbert
Swindells on the stump. Resolutions passed that no one pay the
license for September, as we had petitioned against it. The
meeting no sooner over than the (Commissioners') hut was rushed
to pay the license, as them that did not pay would loose their
ground—Conner's party receiving 16 feet square each, double
the ground to what others had. Herbert Swindells was refused a
license to dig on account of taking the stump at the meeting. A
collection was made for him of 12 oz. of gold which he lost the
same night. This is a correct list of facts.


W.
WOODWARD.

Merrick, writing from Morrison's Diggings, on the 24th
February, 1870, to Mr. James Oddie, says:—

As to the time or date of our arrival on Golden Point
I do not remember, but as to the day and circumstances they are
simply as follows:—I formed the party at first with the
intention of proceeding to Esmond's Diggings, and on the road we
tried Hiscock's Hill, found it would not pay, so we agreed at the
end of the week to send George Wilson, one of our party, to the
Brown Hill to see if Lindsay and party had found gold. If they
had not we were to start for the Clunes on the Monday morning.
George went up on Saturday or Sunday returning over Golden Point,
the flat being flooded. He tried a dishful of gravel and got a
nice prospect—some of the bits like small shots flattened.
When we had seen the prospect we determined to start for the
place next morning early, so that we should not be noticed
leaving. On our arrival at Yuille's Flat our cart got bogged, so
three of our party, the carter, and horse, started for the Point,
taking with them as many things as they could, leaving two of the
party to mind the cart. When they got to the Point to their
surprise they found Connor's party just arrived. The cart was
soon got up and the tents commenced putting up. Most of our party
were for finishing tent and other odd jobs, and commence washing
the next week, but I said, "No for I intend to be the first that
ever worked a cradle in this place." It was agreed I should, and
I cradled the remainder of the week, but no other party began
till next Monday or Tuesday following, except they tin-dished it.
My party consisted of six men, but Mr. Batty did not come up with
us. Their names are as follows:—T. Batty, R. Turner, Dunn,
G. Wilson, C. Fitzgerald, J.F.C. Merrick.


Thus was opened the gold-field of Ballarat, and the honor of
discovery seems to be tolerably evenly balanced between the two
claiming parties. Turner does not, though Dunn does, assert
priority of discovery for his party, and he admits that Connor's
party were first on the Point on the first working day, Woodward
making Tuesday and Turner making Monday to be that day. Merrick
does not assert priority either, save as to the use of the
cradle. It may, perhaps, be held that the balance of priority
inclines to the side of Connor's party, and it is said in support
of Connor's claim that he was always regarded as leader of the
diggers at the meetings held in those first days when the
authorities made their first demand of license fees. Then it is
seen from Woodward's statement that the Commissioner recognised
Connor's claim to priority, and gave the party a double area.
Swindells fared worse than our modern men of the stump, and
appears to have been less mindful of No. 1 than his less
scrupulous descendants. It is worthy remark, as already shown,
that none of these actual discoverers and openers of the Ballarat
gold-field ever received any reward from the Government, though
Hiscock had, and Esmond also, Hargreaves, however, as already
stated, having the lion's share. So far, it must be said,
Victoria has acted with less liberality to her own children than
to the stranger's. As to Hiscock's gold cup, lately (1870)
exhibited here as the product of gold got in Hiscock's Gully,
Woodward affirms that the cup was not made of gold discovered
there.

Writing to Mr. James Oddie, from Tarnagulla, under date 29th
May, 1884, William Brownbill, the discoverer of gold at what is
now known as Brown Hill, on the road to the Gong Gong,
says:—

In the early portion of 1851, having donned the blue
shirt, I resolved to swim with the tide and take the first job
that presented itself.
** Took a job
rebuilding Mr. Cray's station, which had suffered by the fire on
black Thursday, and while there very exciting stories were told
of the Sydney gold-fields, and several hands left the station for
that new enterprise. Not long after the Sydney fields had been
noised abroad it was stated that there had been gold found at
Buninyong by a blacksmith named Hiscock. Hearing that a great
many people had gone there in search of gold I decided to go to
Buninyong and see for myself what could be done. Judge, then, my
disappointment to find that this diggings of Hiscock's was just
about being deserted, parties chopfallen and discouraged selling
their outfit, consisting of a tarpaulin, spade, pick, tin dish,
for the merest trifle. During the evening, however, at the hotel
I fraternised with a gentleman, a reporter for one of the Geelong
papers, who had come up to take stock, and from him I learned
that some new place had been discovered some miles out in the
bush. He and I made our way to the place and found Dunlop and
Regan, the discoverers, with about six or seven other parties on
a small hill (Golden Point) scratching up dirt and washing it in
a tin dish, where specks of gold became visible. Upon my
attempting to follow their example I was informed that that side
of the hill belonged to them and that I had better look for a
place for myself. Under these circumstances I was constrained to
take my stand on the other side which was afterwards called
Poverty Point. Not many days elapsed before feeling discouraged,
and I struck out across the bush in search of fresh fields,
trying bits of dirt here and there as I went along. In this way,
then, I came to the place which in honor of my discovery the
diggers called "Brownbill's Diggings" and which afterwards
degenerated into "The Brown Hill". We commenced work and must
have been some considerable time there when Governor La Trobe,
accompanied by Captain Dana and some black police, came up to see
the place, Brownbill's diggings being the first visited. Upon my
showing the Governor the manner in which gold was obtained he
remarked to me—"Your mother did not think when you came to
Australia that you were going to dig gold out of the ground in
that manner." ** "I
have never received so much as a shilling in the shape of reward
from the Government, my repeated applications being rejected on
the plea that my discovery was too near another
diggings.


Other parties from the seaboard were quickly on the trail of
the Golden Point prospectors, and Hiscock's Gully-workers soon
repaired to the richer locality. Hannington, whom we left
revisiting pre-auriferous Ballarat, so to speak, in 1845, turns
up again as we pursue his story. He goes on thus:—
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